1979

# Douglas Fairbanks Close v. Allene Close Adams : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE . . . . .

DISPOSITION ON LOWER COURT . . . . .

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL . . . . .

STATEMENT OF FACTS . . . . .

ARGUMENT:

POINT I. The court erred in holding that  
Mrs. Branscomb could not sever  
the joint tennancy she formed  
with her daughter by quit  
claiming her interest as a  
joint tenant to her son the  
Plaintiff herein . . . . .

CONCLUSION . . . . .

CASES CITED

Delaney vs Delaney, 13 P2d 513, Calif. 1932 . . . . .

Nelson vs Davis, 592 P2 594 Utah, 1979 . . . . .

Tenhet vs Boswell, 554 P2d 331, Calif. 1976 . . . . .

Tracy Collins Trust Co. vs Goeltz et al, 5 Ut 2d 350, 301  
P2d 1086, 1956 . . . . .

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH

-----

DOUGLAS FAIRBANKS CLOSE, :  
Plaintiff and Appellant, :  
vs. : Case No. 16630  
ALLENE CLOSE ADAMS :  
Defendant and Respondent, :

-----

-----

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

-----

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for partition of property in which both Plaintiff and the Defendant claim an interest. Mrs. Edith Branscomb, the deceased mother of both parties originally conveyed the property in question to herself and the Defendant as Joint tennants with full right of survivorship. Prior to her death the said Mrs. Branscomb quit claimed her interest to the Plaintiff and the Defendant now refuses to acknowledge Defendants interest.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter came to trial on April 30, 1979 in the

Second Judicial District Court in and for the County of Weber. At the outset the court indicated it did not want to hear any testimony as it was convinced that a joint tennancy could not be severed by one joint tennant independent of any other joint tennant. The court finally agreed to hear three of Plaintiff subpoenaed witnesses; a physician, a social worker and the deceased housekeeper. The Defendant did not attempt to offer any evidence. The court then in effect dismissed the action by holding "I find that the giving of a quit claim deed is an unilateral act and does not terminate a joint tennancy." The court further decreed that Allene Close Adams was the owner of the property in question.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the Trial Courts ruling that a joint tennant cannot sever a joint tennancy without the approval and consent of co-joint tennants and further requests the court to rule that both parties are now tennants in common and that the property be sold and the proceeds divided equally between said parties.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 1, 1962, Edith L. Branscomb, the deceased mother of the parties, conveyed by warranty deed her home at 2527 Grammeray, Ogden, Utah to herself and her daughter as Joint Tennants (TR.2). Relations between the mother and daughter deteriorated (TR.41) and (TR.46) and thereafter on

July 29, 1977 Mrs. Branscomb quit claimed her remaining interest in her home to her son Douglas F. Close (TR.2) She subsequently died on December 26, 1977 and Defendant refused to acknowledge Plaintiff's interest in the property necessitating the action for partition.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

The Court erred in holding that Mrs. Branscomb could not sever the joint tennancy she formed with her daughter by quit claiming her interest as a joint tennant to her son, the Plaintiff herein. Defendant's contention that a joint tennancy is incapable of severance without consent of all joint tennants is not supportable. In the California case Delanoy vs. Delanoy 13 P2d 513, Frederick William Delanoy held property in joint tennancy with his wife Theresa Louise Delanoy. The former conveyed his interest to his mother. The wife alleged that the property was community property and the deed to the mother was voidable at the option of the wife because she, the wife, did not join therein. The trial court held the deed valid and that the mother and wife were the owners respectively of an undivided one-half interest in the property as tennants in common. The court determined that the property was incapable of partition and ordered premises sold and proceeds divided.

On appeal the Supreme Court affirmed holding

"It therefore follows of course that Frederick had the power to convey his separate estate by way of gift or otherwise without the approval or consent of his wife. It also follows that upon such a conveyance the joint tennancy was terminated and the plaintiff and defendant became tennants in common, each the owner of an undivided one half interest in the property."

The court was confronted in this case with an issue regarding community funds and property which it resolved without confusing it with joint tennancy question.

Language helpful in resolving the issues before the court is found in the California case Tenhet vs Boswell 554 P2d 331 which considered the issue of whether a lease severed a joint tennancy.

"A joint interest is one owned by two or more persons in equal shares by a title created by a single will or transfer when expressly declared in the will or transfer to be a joint tennancy".....The statute requiring an express declaration for the creation of joint interests, does not abrogate the common law rule that four unities



are essential to an estate in joint tennancy; unity of interest, unity of time, unity of title and unity of possession.....

The requirement of four unities reflects the basic concept that there is but one estate which is taken jointly; if an essential unity is destroyed the joint tennancy is severed and a tennancy in common results.....accordingly one of two joint tennants may unilaterally terminate the joint tennancy by conveying his interest to a third person (DELANOY VS DELANOY 1932 216 Cal 23, 26, 13 P2d 513) Severence of a joint tennancy or course, extinguishes the principal feature of that estate-the jus accrescendi or right of survivorship. Thus a joint tennants right of survivorship is an expectancy that is not irrevocable fixed upon the creation of the estate; it arises only upon success in the ultimate gamble-survival-and then only if the unity of the estate has not theretofore been destroyed by voluntary conveyance.

(Delanoy vs Delanoy).....or by any other action which operates to sever the joint tennancy."

Utah Law reflects the same reasoning: Tracy Collins Trust Co. vs Frances Boydell Goeltz and et al 5 Utah 2d 350, 301 P2d 1086 involved an action to foreclose a mortgage. Lower court held that a husband could sever a joint tennancy held by himself and his wife on real property by executing himself a new mortgage on said property. Plaintiff and Respondent was awarded judgement against both husband and wife for amount paid on old mortgage because of subrogation rights and against husband alone for money received over and above amount of old mortgage. This court affirmed stating

"Francis Boydell Goeltz (husband) was in a position to lawfully convey or encumber the property to the extent of his interest. He as joint owner of the property and as joint obligor under the 1936 mortgage, was entitled to negotiate for the enlarged loan"

Even the appellant did not question that the joint tennancy could be severed but alleged the mortgage was void because of the lack of the wife's signature.

The court further stated, Page 365, "Nor is there any merit to appellants second contention. Appelant does not dispute the proposition that a joint tennant of real property by conveying

or mortgaging his interest therein by a valid deed or mortgage severs and terminates the joint tenancy by the creation of a tenancy in common.....it is apparent that the mortgage was not void but only inoperative to create a lien against appellants interest in the property beyond making it subject to the right of respondent resulting from its being subrogated to rights of Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Co."

Even the case cited by the Respondent in the District Court Nelson Vs Davis 592 P2 594 supports the position that a joint tenant may divest himself of his interest without the approval of any other joint tenant. In that case the Court held that a joint tenant could not sever a joint tenancy, in a divorce action, where the joint tenant was under a court order not to dispose of the marital property in question. Justice Crockett further observed that the purported deed did not sever the joint tenancy, not because of the inherent inability of the joint tenant, but because there was no evidence of delivery by the joint tenant of the deed to her daughter. Commenting more specifically concerning the issue the opinion stated on Page 596,

"It is not to be questioned that a joint tenant

may in proper circumstances make a bona fide conveyance of his interest in property to a third person or that this has the effect of terminating the joint tenancy, and converting the ownership into a tenancy in common." (Citing Tracy Collins vs Goeltz 301 P2d 1086)

"However this is not accomplished by a unilateral declaration (emphasis added) of termination of such a tenancy, such a declaration is but a nullity which has no effect upon the joint tenancy."

It is the Appellants position that the "Unilateral declaration" mentioned above referred to a document entitled "Notice of Termination" which the joint tenant recorded with the defective deed. It appears that the Lower Court and the Respondent mistakenly connected the words "unilatered declaration" with the deed instead of with the document "Notice of Termination"

#### CONCLUSION

If the lower courts ruling is upheld it will have the effect of destroying one of the important features of a joint tenancy. No longer will it be possible for a grantor to come