1979

# Douglas Fairbanks Close v. Allene Close Adams : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Each of the parties to this cause of action served a complaint upon each other, with the Court subsequently issuing an order to consolidate the two complaints into one cause of action. The issue proposed to be litigated by the Respondent was for the Court to make a determination that the decedent intended to convey her assets by making a conveyance of all of her stock in Utah Power & Light Company to the Appellant, and to convey the home, which was owned by the decedent, by a Warranty Deed to her daughter, with the daughter to have a total vested right of survivorship in the home upon the demise of the decedent.

The Respondent filed a lis pendens at the time of the filing of her complaint, and prayed the Court to enter a judgment that the subsequent conveyance of the real property by the decedent to the Appellant was an invalid conveyance and done by reason of the undue influence of the Appellant at a time when the decedent was 89 years of age, and incompetent, and further seeking if the Court should uphold the conveyance and severing of the joint tenancy of the property as between the decedent and the Respondent, that the Court take into consideration the assets conveyed to the Appellant at the time of the conveyance by the decedent of the real and personal property to both the Appellant and Respondent and that there be an equal distribution of all of the assets of the decedent.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Upon the matter coming to trial and being heard before the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde, the Court held that the real property having been conveyed by a Warranty Deed to the Respondent and the decedent in joint tenancy, and the decedent having predeceased the Respondent, that there was a vesting of the Estate of the decedent in the surviving joint tenant, and that the conveyance of the real property prior to the demise of the decedent by the giving of a Quit Claim

Deed was a unilateral act that did not determine and terminate the joint tenancy. The Court thereupon granted judgment to the Respondent.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

To clarify the parties to this cause of action, the Respondent will refer to Edith L. Branscomb, the mother of both of the parties to this action as the "Mother", and will refer to Respondent as the "Daughter", and will refer to the Appellant as the "Son". The mother became demised in December, 1978, at the age of 90 years. (R-120)

On May 1, 1962, the Mother conveyed, by Warranty Deed, a joint tenancy to the real property which was the home of the Mother, by conveying her home to both herself and to her Daughter, while at the same time she conveyed her Utah Power & Light stock in joint tenancy by conveying same to herself and to her Son. (R-35)

The shares in Utah Power & Light were conveyed by the Mother to her Son, on March 20, 1962 (R-38), and the number of shares which were conveyed by the Mother to the Son, was 740 shares, which subsequently split two for one, and now totals 1,480 shares. (R-37, 38).

The Mother transferred the same property which she had conveyed by Warranty Deed to her Daughter, by transferring same to her Son by a Quit Claim Deed on July 29, 1977 (R-42), the Mother being 89 years of age at the time of such transfer of the property by Quit Claim Deed to the Son, (R-46)

In January, 1977, the Mother was admitted to the hospital, suffering from a massive stroke, which occurred in January, 1977, and in the opinion of her attending physician, Dr. C. Basil Williams, "she was not thereafter competent to make sound decisions without relying upon her family to make the decisions". The hospital records show that the Mother was unable to give a medical history at the time of her admission, and in the opinion of the attending doctor was not competent to make and understand decisions requiring competency. (R-46)

In the Statement of Facts of the Appellant, allegation is made on Pages 2 and 3 of Appellant's Brief, that the relations between the Mother and Daughter deteriorated, and that thereafter the Mother quit claimed the property to the Son. The citations given in the Brief are TR-41 and TR-46, as authority for this statement, and there is nothing in the record on either TR-41 and TR-46 or the court stenographer's

numbers on the transcript, which for TR-41 would be R-119 and for TR-46 would be R-124, that in any way substantiate or justify such a statement as a Statement of Facts.

The testimony of a Mrs. Arnold evidences to the contrary. Mrs. Arnold was employed for a period of two years, prior to the demise of the Mother, to care for her at the home of the Mother, and that she cared for her from Monday through Friday 5:00 o'clock p.m.; and that from 5:00 o'clock p.m. Friday until Sunday morning, the Daughter moved in and cared for the Mother, and that the Son cared for the Mother on Sunday. (R-117, 118)

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE PROPERTY CONVEYED BY WARRANTY DEED IN JOINT TENANCY CANNOT BE UNILATERALLY TERMINATED BY JOINT TENANT CONVEYING QUIT CLAIM DEED.

In Nelson v. Davis, 592 P.2d 594, (February 23, 1979, S.Ct. of Utah), the court held that where husband and wife were joint tenants in real property, that a declaration unilaterally made by the wife continued until the wife's death, and then vested in the husband as her survivor.

In the Nelson case, supra, the husband and wife were joint tenants in the property, and the wife, in an attempt to avoid the possible consequence of a divorce decree, con-

veyed by a quit claim deed her property interest as a joint tenant to her daughter, and subsequently the wife became demised and the daughter made claim against the property as a substituted party in interest, as tenant in common in said property.

The Utah Supreme Court stated that the effect of terminating a joint tenancy and converting the tenancy into a tenancy in common is not accomplished by a mere unilateral declaration of termination of such a tenancy, since such a declaration is a nullity, which has no effect upon the joint tenancy of the husband, who was the joint tenant, and did not vest in the daughter, an interest as a tenant in common, when the mother who had conveyed the interest to the daughter, became demised, in that the surviving spouse had an estate in the property that vested upon the wife's death, and could not be divested by such a unilateral conveyance.

The Honorable Ronald O. Hyde, made a findings as follows:

I find that the giving of a Quit Claim Deed is a unilateral act and does not terminate a joint tenancy. Insofar as a joint tenancy is concerned, the act is a nullity which has no effect upon the joint tenancy.

The Court thereupon rendered judgment for the Daughter and against the Son, finding that the conveyance was a nullity. (R-60)

In Mannausa v. Mannausa, 375 Mich.6, 150 N.W.2d 900, (S.Ct. of Mich., 1964), the court held that where a joint tenant sold the property without consent of the other joint tenant who had the right of survivorship, and who did in fact survive the first joint tenant, the surviving tenant had a right to all proceeds of the sale.

In Ames v. Cheyne, 296 Mich.215, 287 N.W.439, S.Ct. of Mich. (September, 1939), the court held that where property stands in the name of joint tenants, with the right of survivorship, neither party may transfer the title to the premises and deprive the other of such right of survivorship. The Supreme Court of Michigan has held in affirmation of this rule in Schulz v. Bröhl, 116 Mich.603, 74 N.W.1012; Finch v. Haynes, 144 Mich.352, 107 N.W.910.

## POINT II

### CONVEYANCE OF PROPERTY INTEREST BY INCOMPETENT PERSON IS A NULLITY.

The Mother, by conveying to her only two children, the only major assets which she owned in 1962, evidenced a desire to make unnecessary the making of a Will by the division of her Estate in conveying of the Utah Power & Light stock to the Son, and the home to the Daughter, both

of which conveyances were made with the Mother retaining joint tenancy in both the personal property of the stock and in the real property. (R-35)

The Mother did die intestate at the age of 90 years, becoming demised in 1978, and the conveyance of the stock and the home was made in 1962. (R-43)

The subsequent deteriorating illness of the Mother and her conveyance in 1977 at the age of 89 years, by Quit Claim Deed of the real property to the Son, following her stroke requires evaluation of her competency and factors of duress and influence in depriving her Daughter of her share in the Estate.

The intervening serious illness of the Mother, and the statement in the medical records of her attending physician, Basil Williams, at the time of her admission to the hospital in January, 1977, when she suffered from a massive stroke that the Mother was not competent to make a sound decision without relying upon her family, makes serious implications as to the ability of the decedent to understand the legal effect of making the Quit Claim Deed to the Son. (R-46)

The Court did not allow introduction of evidence by the Daughter as to medical testimony, in that the Court, while allowing whatever witness were present to testify, stated that the testimonies of the witnesses were not material, in

that the Court had decided the issue upon the belief of the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde, that the conveyance of a Quit Claim Deed was a nullity, and did not sever the joint tenancy between the Mother and the Daughter, and that the Mother, having become demised, the right of survivorship passed the total Estate to the Daughter, as to the real property, and the Court stated that the evidence would be pursued if the Court felt that the facts already presented to the Court as to the status of the tenancy was not sufficient upon which to base an ultimate decision. (R-125)

The Court did thereafter, render a decision and judgment (R-65) finding that the Quit Claim Deed conveyance was a nullity and that the property was vested in the Daughter.

The Daughter was prepared to present the testimony of Dr. Basil Williams and a number of other persons, as to the serious disability of the Mother, as the result of the stroke in January, 1977, and that the subsequent conveyance of the Quit Claim Deed in July, 1977, by the Mother to the Son, (R-42) could not be valid in that the Mother was incompetent and was in fear of being sent to a rest home, and therefore the Son exerted undue influence in promising to allow her not to be taken to a rest home and in obtaining the Quit Claim Deed from the Mother, which together with the Utah Power & Light stock which had been conveyed by the

Mother previously, placed in the Son, all of the assets of the Mother's Estate, for the sole benefit of the Son, and with no comparable part of the Estate going to the Daughter.